
2. what constitutes misconduct

2.1 Under Paragraph 7 of the Guide for Inquiry Officers, Inquiry Committees, Assisting Officers and Accused Officers Involved in Disciplinary Inquiries under PS(A)O Section 9 or 10 (“the Guide”), the duty of an Inquiry Committee is to:

(a) discover the facts of the case on the basis of evidence presented at the Inquiry; and

(b) to examine the surrounding circumstances and any mitigating factors.  

2.2 The Inquiry Committee is required to:

(a) determine whether the facts necessary to support the particulars of the alleged misconduct have been established;

(b) give an opinion after listening to and evaluating the evidence as to whether those facts amount to misconduct, having regard to the description of misconduct in paragraphs 4 to 6 of the Guide; and

(c) ensure that Mr Rowse receives a full, fair and impartial hearing and is given an adequate opportunity to contest all the evidence produced in support of the particulars of the alleged misconduct and to present his own case.

2.3 Paragraph 18 of the Guide states that:
“After ascertaining the facts of the case, the Inquiry Committee should apply common sense and normal judgment to determine whether the proven conduct amounts to misconduct...”  

2.4 Paragraph 4 of the Guide states that there are no hard and fast rules to determine precisely what constitutes misconduct.  

2.5 Whether or not Mr Rowse’s conduct will constitute misconduct will depend on, among other things, the nature and circumstances of the role which he was assigned to him and his rank and service experience.

2.6 It is stated in paragraph 5 of the Guide that:

“... Where no specific rules or instructions may be applicable in a particular case, conduct which falls short of the standard expected of an officer, or which is considered improper, by his supervisor or the management may be regarded as misconduct…  

2.7 …The more senior a civil servant the more we would expect him/her not to rely on written rules when discharging their duties…”  There are no specific rules or instructions applicable to assess the standard required of him in performing his duties in the Harbour Fest project.  In the case of the Harbour Fest, Mr Rowse was acting under the ERWG’s instructions and his immediate supervisor was the Financial Secretary.  At the Inquiry hearing, the Financial Secretary, Mr Henry Tang, said in terms that he was not aware of any improper conduct on Mr Rowse’s part.  Accordingly, for purposes of paragraph 5 of the Guide, I would submit that there is no proper basis for a finding of misconduct against him.  

2.8 One of the extraordinary features of these proceedings is that it is being suggested that Mr Rowse should be disciplined in the context of an onerous assignment that was in addition to his duties in respect of which he completely delivered the Government’s objectives, namely the staging of an ambitious international entertainment event involving over 25 artists which was conceived and implemented all within the space of approximately three months. 

2.9 Mr Rowse was chosen by the then Financial Secretary to take on this assignment because he had a reputation for getting things done and for not allowing form to stand in the way of substance. 

2.10 I would submit that in the context of deciding whether Mr Rowse should be found guilty of misconduct, the Inquiry Committee needs to make an overall assessment of his conduct of the assignment, the circumstances in which he was asked to perform this and the objectives set by the Government.  Even if (contrary to my submission) the Inquiry Committee was to consider that there were certain aspects of what Mr Rowse did which with the benefit of hindsight might have been done better, this falls far short of what is required to establish misconduct.  Any such aspect which did not affect the success of the assignment should not be regarded as misconduct for the purposes of section 10 of the PS(A)O. 

2.11 It is clear from paragraph 7 of the Guide that in the context of determining whether there has been misconduct, the Inquiry Committee has to examine the surrounding circumstances and any mitigating factors.  In other words, these issues go to liability for misconduct not to the sentence that might be subsequently imposed on Mr Rowse in the event of a finding of misconduct.

2.12 It is Mr Rowse’s submission that he did everything which was required of him in relation to the assignment given to him by the ERWG.  However, even if the Inquiry Committee took the view that there were certain things which might have been done better in the way in which Mr Rowse achieved the result that had been asked of him, I would submit that he was asked to perform this assignment in extraordinary circumstances.  There is also recognition that his department had ‘zero experience’ in this type of event.  These ‘mitigating factors’ should lead to the Inquiry Committee concluding that there should be no finding for misconduct.

2.13 With respect, it appears that the Assisting Officer considers that “mitigating factors” are irrelevant to the conclusions to be reached by the Inquiry Committee as to whether there is misconduct.   I submit that this is incorrect in light of paragraph 7 of the Guide.   

Burden of proof

2.14 Paragraph 17 of the Guide states that the Inquiry Committee must be satisfied on the evidence that the particulars of the Charges have been proved.  The Assisting Officer therefore has the burden to prove to the requisite standard that the evidence presented by him is sufficient to support the elements and particulars of each of the Charges against Mr Rowse.

Standard of proof

2.15 Paragraph 17 of the Guide clearly states that the standard of proof to be applied must be commensurate with the gravity of the Charges.

2.16 It is submitted that Mr Rowse is faced with very serious allegations in relation to his conduct as a senior civil servant of the Government in this Inquiry.  

2.17 This Inquiry has been brought under Section 10 of the PS(A)O as opposed to Section 9.  An adverse finding against Mr Rowse would allow the Chief Executive to inflict such punishment upon Mr Rowse as the Chief Executive thinks fit, which may result in the dismissal or compulsory retirement of the officer who may be deprived of his pension.  Accordingly, I submit that the standard of proof to be applied in this Inquiry under Section 10 of the PS(A)O must be higher than that in an inquiry under Section 9 of the PS(A)O.

2.18 Mr Rowse respectfully reminds the Inquiry Committee that the consequences to him of any adverse finding in this Inquiry will be far reaching in the extreme given his position in the Government in Hong Kong and will certainly ruin his career as a public servant that has now spanned 30 years during which he has built up a reputation for being a person of high integrity.
2.19 In these circumstances, the Inquiry Committee should apply a higher standard of proof than the normal civil standard of a mere balance of probability in assessing the evidence and determining the issues before the Inquiry.  Mr Rowse respectfully suggests that the appropriate standard in this Inquiry is at least proof to a high degree of probability.

2.20 In this context it is also worth noting another important principle in paragraph 17 of the Guide when it is stated that:

“…where the alleged offence is serious and could result in serious consequences for the officer, such as dismissal, it is advisable for the Inquiry Committee to require supporting testimony or other corroboration.”


When faced with a situation where it is confronted with conflicting evidence, the Inquiry Committee must satisfy itself to the requisite standard based on all the relevant evidence before it before making any determination as to where the truth lies.

2. Unavailability of Mr Antony Leung

2.1 While the Assisting Officer has advised the Inquiry Committee that it has no power to subpoena the attendance of a non-civil servant to give evidence at an inquiry hearing under the PS(A)O, there can be no dispute that the unwillingness on the part of Mr Antony Leung to give evidence before the Inquiry Committee has had a significant impact on the conduct of this Inquiry.  

2.2 Mr Leung, in his capacity as the former Financial Secretary was the founder of the whole Economic Relaunch Programme.  He appointed Mr Rowse to be the Secretary to both the ERWG and Economic Relaunch Strategy Group (“ERSG”) and the Controlling Officer of the $1 billion relaunch fund.  

2.3 More importantly, in his capacity as the former Chairman of the ERWG, Mr Leung chaired the two ERWG meetings on 2 July 2003 and 12 July 2003 where the Harbour Fest project was approved by the ERWG and the role of the Government in the project was defined. Mr Leung was the person who set the parameters for what was required by Invest HK in the context of the obligations imposed under the Public Finance Ordinance, specifically pursuant to the Financial Circular 14/84.  

2.4 Mr Rowse notes that the Inquiry Committee has ruled that the evidence of Mr Leung shall be excluded from the evidence before this Inquiry.  While Mr Rowse agrees with the approach taken by the Inquiry Committee, it remains Mr Rowse’s concern that the untested evidence of Mr Leung had been relied on by the Civil Service Bureau in framing these Charges. In fact they were contained in the Prosecution Document handed over to the Inquiry Committee on the first day of the Inquiry hearing.  They were only subsequently removed from the evidence before this Inquiry pursuant to the Inquiry Committee’s decision made at a later stage of the hearing. 

2.5 Furthermore, Mr Rowse considers that a significant number of the crucial issues in this Inquiry required careful explanation by Mr Leung to the Inquiry Committee.  Regrettably, these explanations have not been forthcoming.

2.6 Mr Rowse submits that his defence case has been seriously handicapped without the opportunity to have heard evidence from Mr Leung on these issues and to test and to cross-examine that evidence.  

3. Drawing conclusions from evidence

2.1 The Inquiry Committee is charged with the function of ascertaining the facts of the case by assessing the evidence presented by the Assisting Officer and Mr Rowse in this Inquiry.

2.2 Mr Rowse notes that the Inquiry Committee has taken the following approach in relation to the Report of the Independent Panel of Inquiry on Harbour Fest (“Panel Report”):

“We are starting afresh not to be influenced by earlier decisions or recommendations of earlier inquiries … we are not taking conclusions from other inquiries.” 

2.3 In other words the Inquiry Committee has, quite correctly in Mr Rowse’s submission, taken the view that in reaching its conclusions, it will rely only on the evidence it heard during the hearing and that it will not take account of any of the opinions or conclusions in (in order of publication):

(a) The Director of Audit’s Report;

(b) The Panel Report; and

(c) The Report of the Public Accounts Committee No. 42 (“PAC Report”).

2.4 One of the reasons why this is the correct position to have adopted is that it is clear that there are serious flaws in the conclusions reached by the Panel.  The Panel was charged with, among other things, the function to look into the performance of Invest HK in the Harbour Fest.  One of the central features of the Panel Report was an examination by the Panel regarding the steps that were taken to examine the AmCham budget.  It is clear that those persons principally responsible for that exercise were Ms Ophelia Tsang and Mr David Chiu of Invest HK.  Despite that, there were no formal interviews with Ms Tsang and Mr Chiu.  Instead, all that occurred was one informal meeting with both of them at the same time.  A summary record of this meeting was produced by the Panel but, contrary to the usual procedures adopted in this type of inquiry, this record was never given to Ms Tsang and Mr Chiu to allow them to comment upon it.  Nor were they given an opportunity to elaborate on the information provided in that meeting or to otherwise express their views in relation to the matters generally.   

2.5 One of the results of this approach taken by the Panel in investigating this issue was its failure to have considered important documentary evidence regarding the steps that were taken to examine AmCham’s budget – see  Document F1 submitted by Mr David Chiu at the Inquiry hearing.  Mr Rowse also has similar concerns over the conclusions reached in the PAC Report, which repeatedly made reference to the Panel’s conclusions.

2.6 In light of all of the above it is of concern to Mr Rowse that the Panel Report has been used as the basis for the bringing of these proceedings.  

2.7 The Inquiry Committee will be aware that one of the prosecution witnesses, Mr Henry Tang, has relied heavily on the conclusions reached by the Panel Report in his answers to the letter from the Secretary for the Civil Service dated 28 July 2004 (the “SCS Letter”). Consistent with the approach taken by the Inquiry Committee, I submit that the only approach to be taken by the Inquiry Committee to Mr Tang’s evidence is that, to the extent that reliance has been sought by Mr Tang on the findings of the Panel Report, such evidence should not form part of the evidence in this Inquiry.  

2.8 In addition, it is also clear from the live evidence given by Mr Tang that he has no personal and independent knowledge and recollection of some of the issues before this Inquiry and has continued to seek reliance on the findings of the Panel Report.  Mr Tang also said that:

“Because the Government… the CE had invited the Panel to look into the Harbour Fest affair and they have produced a report, and the Government has accepted the findings of the report.  So, as a member of the Government, I am bound by – the Government has accepted the findings of the report.”
2.9 Clearly, the Government’s position in relation to the findings of another inquiry should not be relevant in this Inquiry.

2.10 In these circumstances, Mr Rowse respectfully submits to the Inquiry Committee that in considering Mr Tang’s evidence, only the evidence given by Mr Tang in his personal belief and within his personal knowledge should form part of the evidence in this Inquiry.  Any statement made by Mr Tang in which he sought to adopt conclusions reached by the Panel Report must be disregarded in full by the Inquiry Committee.   I also note that the Assisting Officer has relied heavily on the answers given by Mr Tang to SCS Letter as evidential proof for some of the Charges.  The Inquiry Committee has accepted that it should not take account of this material when assessing the case against Mr Rowse.

Written reasons  

2.11 Upon the completion of this Inquiry, the Inquiry Committee will render an opinion as to whether the facts revealed from the evidence presented at this Inquiry amount to misconduct on the part of Mr Rowse.  Mr Rowse would invite the Inquiry Committee to set out fully in its written report, the evidential basis and the standard of proof applied in reaching its opinion in relation to each of the Charges against him in the report to be submitted to the Chief Executive.  

4. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

2.1 In forming the opinion as to whether the conduct of Mr Rowse constitutes misconduct within the definition of the Guide, the Inquiry Committee should take into account the prevailing circumstances at the time about which evidence has been given to this Inquiry.

The Economic Relaunch Campaign

2.2 The outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) in March 2003 had a great impact on Hong Kong.  The general economy was seriously adversely affected.  
2.3 In order to rebuild the economy and to re-establish the international image of Hong Kong, the Chief Executive announced on 23 April 2003 an $11.8 billion economic relief package of which $1 billion would be spent on a special campaign locally and internationally to restore Hong Kong’s reputation and get the economy moving – that is, the economic relaunch campaign.

The idea of the Economic Relaunch

2.4 According to Mr Tang, the whole idea of having an economic relaunch effort was:

“to use that money to galvanise both the community and also to attract more people to come to visit Hong Kong, as well as to uplift the profile of Hong Kong in the international community, both locally and overseas.  It costs money and so, therefore, we had earmarked $200 million for mega events and mega events are mega events.  At that time, we didn’t know what kind of mega events.”
2.5 The Government was eager to spend a significant sum of money quickly in order to improve the morale and get the economy going again.  It was in these circumstances that out of the $1 billion relaunch fund, the ERWG decided to allocate $200 million to ‘mega events’.  

Involvement of Mr Rowse and Invest HK in the Economic Relaunch

2.6 In or around April 2003, Mr Leung, the then Financial Secretary, approached Mr Tang, the then SCIT, to borrow the services of Invest HK.  

2.7 Two ad hoc bodies were set up in early May 2003 for the Economic Relaunch Campaign, namely the ERWG and theERSG.

2.8 The ERWG comprised the Financial Secretary, SCIT, SFST, SHA, SEDL, DIS and the Director of the Chief Executive’s Office and the ERSG comprised all the members of the ERWG plus 19 members of the community, including the Chairman of the American Chamber of Commerce (“AmCham”).

2.9 The ERWG was responsible for making all major executive decisions on economic relaunch including which activities to support, how much money would be spent and the allocation of the relaunch fund while the ERSG gave an overall steer to the campaign.

2.10 Mr Rowse was appointed by Mr Leung to act as the Secretary of both the ERSG and the ERWG as well as being appointed as the Controlling Officer for the $1 billion relaunch fund, responsible for dispensing allocations from it in accordance with ERWG’s instructions.
2.11 Furthermore, Mr Rowse and Invest HK took up additional duties related to economic relaunch which included acting as the first point of government contact for relaunch ideas emerging from the community.  The department on its own initiative volunteered to undertake five individual projects under the economic relaunch campaign, in addition to the Harbour Fest duties assigned to it by ERWG.  

2.12 At the time when these events took place, Invest HK also had a significant other assignment in addition to its normal duties of investment promotion.  This was the $2.3 billion International Exhibition Centre project negotiations in respect of which had reached a climax in the middle of 2003.
5. erwg meetings on 2 july 2003 and 12 july 2003 – the role of the government in the harbour fest

2.1 The meetings of the ERWG on 2 July 2003 and 12 July 2003 are of great importance to this Inquiry.  The Inquiry Committee heard from three live witnesses about the substance of these meetings - Ms Ophelia Tsang, Mr David Chiu and Mr Henry Tang.  The contemporaneous notes made by Ms Tsang in her capacity as the note taker of the meeting are no longer in existence.  The only written records of the meetings are the two sets of minutes.

2.2 Mr Rowse did not attend either of these two meetings.  On the 2 July 2003, he was out of town conducting investment promotion work in the United States and on 12 July 2003, he was engaged at another meeting in relation to the International Exhibition Centre.

2.3 The decisions made by the ERWG and the comments made by the members at these two meetings set the parameters of the role that the Government would take in the Harbour Fest project.

2.4 Suggestions were made at the Inquiry hearing by the Assisting Officer that Mr Rowse personally had reservations about the Harbour Fest project but failed to advise the ERWG accordingly.  This is wholly incorrect.  The evidence shows that Mr Rowse did not have any reservations about the project.  As far as he was concerned, ERWG had given due consideration to the project at its meetings on 2 July and 12 July and he had no reason to question ERWG’s decision to proceed with the event.   
Meeting on 2 July 2003 (“2 July Meeting”)

2.5 On 2 July 2003, AmCham was invited to make a presentation of their proposal to the ERWG as a result of a conscious decision made at an interdepartmental meeting on 26 June 2003 to channel AmCham’s proposal directly to the ERWG for its consideration. 

2.6 The total time spent by the ERWG at the meeting on this item was approximately 45 minutes.

2.7 The minutes of the 2 July Meeting state as follows:

“… The meeting agreed to support the proposal in principle and to underwrite the event up to $100 million, subject to Invest HK’s scrutiny and satisfaction of the detailed budget…  AmCham / Disney should endeavour to make the event as commercially viable as possible, with a view to reducing the Government’s subsidy…”

2.8 The following observations were also made by the witnesses who attended the 2 July Meeting:

2.8.1 The attendees at the meeting were attracted by the proposal put forward by AmCham.

2.8.2 No one challenged the ability of AmCham to organise the event nor did AmCham representatives mention the detailed operation plan and their organisation structure in relation to the actual implementation of the Harbour Fest.

2.8.3 The proposal put forward by AmCham was only at a preliminary stage.  The programme and artist line up were indicative only, which would be subject to the availability of artists and further negotiations and considerations would be required.

2.8.4 The meeting did not consider downsizing the project.

2.8.5 The meeting did not discuss whether Invest HK was suitable to scrutinize AmCham’s budget.

2.8.6 The meeting did not discuss the manner in which Invest HK should scrutinize AmCham’s budget. 

2.9 Mr Rowse returned to the office on 7 July 2003 from his duty visit.  Ms Tsang and Mr Chiu briefed Mr Rowse on what happened at the 2 July Meeting.  Mr Rowse’s understanding of ERWG’s decision made at the meeting is that the ERWG had considered, assessed and evaluated AmCham’s proposal and had given support to the proposal in principle.  Invest HK was specifically asked to scrutinize and to satisfy itself with AmCham’s budget.  

Meeting on 12 July 2003 (“12 July Meeting”)

2.10 On 12 July 2003, the ERWG considered the funding application made by Invest HK for the Harbour Fest project.  

2.11 The minutes of the 12 July Meeting recorded as follows:

“12.
The following bids were approved:

(a) a maximum of $100 million to Invest HK for underwriting the “International Autumn Festiva”l [later renamed as the Harbour Fest] organised by the American Chamber of Commerce (AmCham) (S/N 39).  DLCS said that the ticket prices should be pitched at market level so as to raise the revenue and reduce the Government subsidy.  ADG3 said the budget presented the worst case scenario.  She would revert to AmCham on raising the ticket prices.  The Chairman said that differential pricing could be adopted, with concessionary tickets for senior citizens and students.  He also emphasized that the Government would act as the sponsor only.  AmCham had to plan, organise, and implement the whole event.”[Emphasis added]
2.12 The key point which arose out of this meeting was that the ERWG took a conscious decision to sponsor rather than co-organise or organise the event.  This is crucial because it set the basis upon which Invest HK was able to monitor the project.

2.13 The other significant decision at that meeting was that the event be sponsored to the tune of $100 million – in other words, through their approval of the AmCham budget and the breakdown of the items in it, the ERWG members were endorsing an entertainment event in respect of which they were happy to spend $100 million.

2.14 The following observations were made by the witnesses who attended the 12 July Meeting:

2.14.1 There were no questions raised by the attendees on AmCham’s budget attached to Invest HK’s funding application.

2.14.2 None of the witnesses could recall any challenge to the decision of the Chairman (Mr Leung) that the Government would be a sponsor only.

2.14.3 No one suggested a different figure for the sponsorship fee to be paid by the Government.

2.14.4 The meeting did not designate any Minister to be responsible for the Harbour Fest.

2.15 Ms Tsang and Mr Chiu reported the result of the 12 July Meeting to Mr Rowse in the afternoon of the same day.  Mr Rowse’s understanding of the decisions made by the ERWG at the meeting are as follows:

2.15.1 The ERWG members did not raise any questions on Invest HK’s funding application nor did they ask any questions in relation to the attached budget before they approved the application.

2.15.2 The Chairman of the meeting had specifically decided that the Government should act as a sponsor only, rather than an organiser or co-organiser.

2.15.3 Members of the ERWG made the suggestion that the ticket prices should be raised to market level in the hope that this would generate more revenue for the event.

The Government’s role as a sponsor

2.16 It is important to note that it is not in dispute that the former Chairman of the ERWG, Mr Leung, made a specific decision at the 12 July Meeting that the Government should be a sponsor only.  

2.17 Mr Tang has given evidence before the Public Accounts Committee that:

“… As there was only a short time between July and October, in order to allow AmCham the maximum flexibility and for the sake of efficiency, the ERWG decided that the Government should act as the sponsor while AmCham would take up the planning, organisation and implementation of the whole event.”
[Emphasis added]

2.18 In describing what ERWG expected of Invest HK, Mr Tang said to the Inquiry Committee that:

 “We did not go into a detailed discussion of how much we would expect Invest HK to intervene”. 
“In retrospect, I would say that if we had more time to articulate what was expected of sponsoring, I think maybe we would have pursued their questions about how – to what degree do we expect Mike to intervene, oversee, participate or whatever in the event”

“but there was always a balance we wanted to strike, that we do not want to become too involved because it might just end up in our lap, and end up AmCham could just say, “Here, you can have it back”.  And then we would end up with an even worse situation than before.”

2.19 It is clear from the evidence that the Government did not want to micromanage the event.  In this regard, I note that it is recorded in the minutes of a subsequent ERWG meeting on the 31 October 2003 that:

“ PS(CI), Ms Denise Yue, recalled that the decision of ERWG at its 9th meeting on 12 July that the Government would act as the sponsor of the Harbour Fest only.  AmCham had to plan, organise and implement the whole event.  It was clear from the outset that the Government was not to micro-manage the detailed organisation and implementation work, which was a matter for AmCham.  Invest HK had never been charged with any overseeing responsibility.”[Emphasis added]
2.20 It was accepted by all that Invest HK had “zero experience” in entertainment events.  I would submit that if the ERWG had wanted the Government to be a co-organiser or to exercise a high degree of control over the organisation of the Harbour Fest as a co-organiser, it would have chosen a department which had more experience in this area, for example, the LCSD, to be the subject department responsible for the Harbour Fest.  Mr Tang also shares our view.  He said, at his interview with the Panel:

“… once we decided that it was a sponsorship deal, rather than a co-organiser deal.  If it were a co-organiser deal, I think we would have gone through this decision more carefully, so whether it should be Invest HK as the co-organiser, subject department, or whether it should be LCSD, because they are much more experienced on it.  Invest HK had zero experience on it.”

2.21 It is submitted that in light of the above instructions given by the ERWG, it is clear that at the 12 July 2003 meeting Mr Leung had consciously chosen a mode of support which required a lesser degree of monitoring by the subject department by limiting the role of the Government to that of a sponsor only.  None of the attendees at the meeting raised any objections or questioned Mr Leung’s decision.  

2.22 The role of a sponsor is to satisfy itself that the sponsorship fee is commensurate with the benefits and to ensure that it receives the benefits contracted for.  Mr Henry Tang explained, in this response to the Director of Audit, that: “For the Harbour Fest, ERWG entrusted Invest HK as the subject department to oversee the implementation of the project in light of the roles assigned to the Government (i.e. a sponsor) and to AmCham (i.e. the planner, organiser and implementer).”
[Emphasis added]  The ERWG had endorsed the sponsorship fee and Invest HK ensured that the Government did receive the promised benefits.    

2.23 In this regard, Mr Rowse agrees with the evidence given by Mr Henry Tang to the Panel that:

“the Government’s role as a sponsor was to ensure that AmCham realized in full the deliverables AmCham had contracted with the Government… The intention was for the Government to maintain an overview of AmCham’s preparation of the festival to ensure that the deliverables were fulfilled and the objectives were met, but not to micro-manage the detailed planning and organization by AmCham.”
[Emphasis added]

2.24 Mr Tang also said at the Inquiry hearing that:

“As the subject department of Harbour Fest, Invest HK’s role was to oversee and monitor that the deliverables are delivered”.  [Emphasis added]

The Concept of “sponsor” and “co-organiser”

2.25 In so far as the Assisting Officer is seeking to suggest that the specific role of sponsor assigned to Invest HK by the ERWG is irrelevant in assessing the standard required of Invest HK as the subject department and that of Mr Rowse as the Controlling Officer of the subject department, I respectfully submit that this is completely wrong.  There is clearly a difference in the level of involvement of a sponsor and a co-organiser.   Both have to be prudent and careful but in the context of these different roles.
2.26 It is not disputed that at the 12 July Meeting a conscious decision was made by the ERWG that the Government would only act as a sponsor in the Harbour Fest.  It is submitted that Invest HK had duly performed its role as a sponsor in overseeing AmCham’s organisation of the event.  The idea was not for Invest HK to “micromanage” the event and not to intervene AmCham’s role in the organisation of the event.  As a sponsor, Invest HK had a very limited role to play in the actual decision making process in the organisation of the event, rather, Invest HK’s role was to review and monitor AmCham’s work, and to render assistance and advice as and when appropriate.  It should not to take over the organisation and management.

2.27 The Inquiry Committee itself asks Mr Rowse when he first detected there is a change in expectation in Invest HK’s role.  I submit this is important in assessing the issue of misconduct for the following reasons:

2.27.1 At the outset everyone was clear that the Government’s role was limited to that of a sponsor;

2.27.2 It is clear that at a very late stage in the process the expectations in relation to what Mr Rowse had been asked to do changed to that of a co-organising project;

2.27.3 By the time Mr Rowse learnt of the change in expectations, there was little that he could do from a practical perspective as the event was about to commence – in other words, this was an attempt to lock the door after the horse had bolted.

Concerns raised in relation to the work done by Invest HK

2.28 In light of the role assigned to Invest HK by the ERWG, Mr Rowse considered that Invest HK would be competent to act as a sponsor in the Harbour Fest project.  

2.29 The Inquiry Committee has naturally sought to explore whether Mr Rowse and Invest HK were conscious of the need to apply extra care to the project given the size of the sponsorship.  It is clear that Mr Rowse, Ms Ophelia Tsang and Mr David Chiu took a more ‘hands on’ approach to the Harbour Fest project.  By way of example only, the Inquiry Committee has heard evidence of how Invest HK assisted AmCham in raising more commercial sponsorship, dealing with various Government departments, solving problems encountered by AmCham in the organisation of the event etc etc. 

2.30 Furthermore, Invest HK was very conscious of the need to keep the ERWG and ERSG informed of the developments to the Harbour Fest.  Reports based on the most up to date information were made by a representative from Invest HK at every ERWG meeting.  Mr Jim Thompson, who himself was a member of the ERSG, also ensured that the ERSG was kept abreast of what was happening with the organisation of the event.  

2.31 It is not disputed by Mr Rowse that the level of monitoring should be commensurate with the amount of public funds involved.  However, the degree of monitoring required of the subject department had to be consistent with its role as a “sponsor”.  The fact that a significant amount of public funds was involved in the Harbour Fest sponsorship arrangement does not mean that the degree of monitoring by Invest HK over the event had to be elevated to that  required of a co-organiser.  Indeed, because it was not a co-organiser Invest HK simply did not have the level of control or ability to monitor the event that would typically be available to a co-organiser.  

2.32 A suggestion has been made that Invest HK did not seek help during the organisation of the Harbour Fest.  With respect, that is incorrect.  There is clear evidence to show the Invest HK sought advice in relation to a number of issues including advice from the LCSD in relation to ticket pricing strategy and from Mr Tang in relation to the taking of steps to issue letters to various organisations to attract more commercial sponsorship fees with an aim to reduce the Government expenditure.   

2.33 There appears to be a question of whether the documentary evidence in support of the work done by Invest HK was enough. I would submit the level of documentation was appropriate.  To achieve the Government’s objective, the huge amount of work had to be done by both Invest HK and AmCham in an extremely short period of time.  In the time available it was simply not possible nor appropriate to record everything in writing.  Indeed, the progress of the organisation would have been substantially delayed had a paper trail been created in relation to each and every communication between AmCham and Invest HK and also between Invest HK and other members of the Government.  

2.34 The priority was to “get the work done” rather than creating masses of paper work minutely recording what was done at the implementation stage.  Accordingly, the fact that there is relatively little documentary evidence to support the evidence given by Ms Tsang, Mr Chiu and Mr Rowse in relation to their work done is not surprising.  This was appropriate in the circumstances.

Role of Mr Rowse as a Controlling Officer

2.35 In the evidence before the Inquiry Committee, the following documents set out the role of a Controlling Officer:

(1) Section 12 of the Public Finance Ordinance (“PFO”)

(2) Financial Circular 14/84 – Responsibility of Controlling Officer (“FC 14/84”)

(3) Paper submitted to the LegCo Panel by Invest HK in October 2003 (LC Paper No. CB(1) 14/03-04(02)) (“LegCo Paper”)

(4) Financial Circular No. 1/2004 – Responsibility of Controlling Officer (“FC 1/2004”)

2.36 Only (1) to (3) above were in force at the time of the Harbour Fest.  It follows that only (1) to (3) above are applicable for the purpose of this Inquiry. (4) was issued after the event and should be ignored.  

2.37 The key document for present purposes is FC 14/84.  The first paragraph was quoted verbatim by the Financial Secretary in his evidence, but he did not go on to the second paragraph, the material portion of which states as follows:

“From time to time, controlling officers may find themselves the client for projects over which their exercise of control differs in some way from normal procedures.”
2.38 The quoted passage demonstrates that the Government envisaged that in relation to certain types of expenditure there would be different levels of control required.  This is not to say that a Controlling Officer does not remain fully responsible and accountable for the proper disbursement of the funds under his control.  It simply recognises that because of the nature of a sponsorship, a different level of control exists.

2.39 Mr Rowse submits that:

2.39.1 He was the Controlling Officer of the $1 billion economic relaunch fund;

2.39.2 He was the Controlling Officer of the subject department assigned the role to implement the sponsorship arrangement with AmCham; 

2.39.3 He was not the Controlling Officer of the event itself.  As the organiser of the Harbour Fest, AmCham was the party who had control of all the expenditure and was responsible for collecting all the revenue of the event.  As the subject department in a sponsorship arrangement, Invest HK had ‘spent’ the public funds by paying the agreed sponsorship fee to AmCham in accordance with ERWG’s instructions.  

2.40 It appears that the Charges have lost sight of the distinction between the three levels above, especially the second and the third levels.  Mr Rowse never denied that he was the Controlling Officer of the subject department.  

2.41 As the Controlling Officer and the head of the subject department, Mr Rowse’s role was to exercise a supervision role over the work done by the department to ensure that proper monitoring was in place over the organisation of Harbour Fest by AmCham.    

2.42 Mr Rowse understands that as the Controlling Officer of Invest HK, his primary duties in relation to the Harbour Fest were to (1) monitor the organisation of the event by AmCham to ensure that they are taking steps to delivery the agreed benefits to the Government and (2) ensure the actual delivery of the contracted benefits.

2.43 In performing his duties, Mr Rowse had allocated the detailed work between himself, Ms Ophelia Tsang and Mr David Chiu in accordance with the level of seniority and capabilities.  Mr Chiu and Ms Tsang would report to Mr Rowse on all matters in relation to the Harbour Fest and Mr Rowse would provide instructions and assistance as appropriate.  As with other organisations, as the head of department, Mr Rowse mostly concentrated on strategic planning while the detailed work was done by Ms Tsang and Mr Chiu in accordance with Mr Rowse’s instructions.  

2.44 Mr Rowse has given evidence that when he was in Hong Kong, he would devote a lot of time to the Harbour Fest project.  During July and August of 2003, Mr Rowse had taken a one month holiday.   This holiday had been duly approved by Mr Rowse’s supervisor, Ms Denise Yue.  Mr Rowse has explained to the Inquiry Committee that because the core investment promotion work of Invest HK had quietened down in July and that most of the projects under the economic relaunch had been endorsed and were being implemented, he considered that it was an appropriate time to take his holidays.  In so far as the Harbour Fest was concerned, as Invest HK was a sponsor and that actual organisation was to be undertaken by AmCham, he considered that Mr Chiu and Ms Tsang were able to handle the assisting and monitoring role in his absence.  In any event, at times when he was in Hong Kong during his holidays, he remained contactable so that if Ms Tsang and Mr Chiu required his advice on any matters, they could consult with him. The only times when he was not contactable immediately by Ms Tsang and Mr Chiu was when he was out of town.

2.45 Concern has been raised that Mr Rowse had travelled overseas on duty visits during the lead up to the Harbour Fest.  I submit that it is part of Mr Rowse’s duty as Director General of Investment Promotion to attract more potential foreign investors hence travelling overseas to promote Hong Kong is one of his central functions.  That was his main responsibility and he had a duty to carry out those visits.

6. specific allegations

2.1 In this section, I will now address the evidence before the Inquiry Committee in relation to each of the Charges.    
Charge A

2.2 In order to make a finding against Mr Rowse on Charge A, the Inquiry Committee must be satisfied to the requisite standard that Mr Rowse failed to ensure that the budget had been critically reviewed by Invest HK and failed to ensure that the ERWG was fully and adequately advised on the proposed budget.  It is of course important to understand in the context of assessing what Invest HK did in this regard that the budget at that stage was recognised by all as being indicative only and therefore subject to change, possibly even substantial change.

2.3 The Assisting Officer argues that it was the ERWG’s expectation that in scrutinizing the budget, Invest HK was also charged with the duty to conduct a feasibility study and a cost benefit analysis in relation to AmCham’s proposal, that is, a root and branch review of the project from the ground up.  I submit that this alleged expectation only arose after criticisms had been made by the public on the Harbour Fest.  It is clear from the minutes of the 2 July Meeting that Invest HK was assigned the task of scrutinizing the budget – it was not asked to conduct a feasibility study as the ERWG already “agreed to support” the event.  Had it been the ERWG’s expectation to do so at the time, I submit that common sense suggests that:
2.3.1 the ERWG would have spelt it out clearly at the meeting and subsequently recorded it in the minutes;
2.3.2 the job would have been given to LCSD, which had experience in this type of event; 

2.3.3 the ERWG would not have given any agreement to support to the project at the 2 July Meeting.  They would have resolved that the decision would only be made after a thorough study had been conducted by the subject department; and 

2.3.4 the ERWG would know that it was logistically not feasible to do such an exercise within the short period of time available.

2.4 The only evidence before the Inquiry Committee regarding the review of the budget came from Mr Ophelia Tsang, Mr David Chiu and Mr Rowse.  All of those individuals have demonstrated that appropriate steps were taken to scrutinize AmCham’s budget.  

2.5 Charge A seeks to rely on Mr Tang’s answers to SCS Letter which states that:

“The Panel considers that Invest HK did not conduct a vigorous enough review of AmCham’s budget for the Harbour Fest, and did not exercise due diligence when carrying out the explicit instruction of ERWG to scrutinize and satisfy itself with the budget (paragraph 2.40 of Panel Report).  The Government has accepted the finding of the Panel, and based on the facts uncovered by the Panel, I share the Panel’s views.

2.6 The Assisting Officer made much of this point in his closing submission.  

2.7 Although this assertion is made, it is apparent from the evidence Mr Tang gave to the Inquiry Committee that he did not himself have any knowledge as to what Invest HK in fact did to examine the budget as shown in his answers given to Ms Loh’s questions at the Inquiry hearing:

“Ms Loh:
Do you know what steps Invest HK actually took to examine the budget?

Mr Tang:
No.”

2.8 It is clear and I believe accepted by the Inquiry Committee that it would not be appropriate for the Inquiry Committee to rely upon Mr Tang’s adoption of conclusion or views reached by the Panel or indeed Mr Tang’s adoption of what he describes as the Government’s position in this matter. Clearly, therefore Mr Tang’s answers to SCS Letter cannot be used as a basis of finding Invest HK had not critically examined the budget.

2.9 Mr Rowse delegated the budget scrutiny task to one of the CEOs of Invest HK, Mr David Chiu and rightly considered that Mr Chiu was competent to perform the task.  Evidence shows that between 2 July and 12 July 2003, Mr Chiu discussed the budget with AmCham, sought further information and clarification from AmCham on the budget and scrutinized the budget. Mr Chiu briefed Mr Rowse on the budget and the work that he had done in scrutinizing it. After listening to the report from Mr Chiu, Mr Rowse considered that the budget was a reasonable basis on which to proceed.  Mr Chiu then prepared the funding application based on the budget he had scrutinized and in order to ensure that the ERWG was adequately advised, Invest HK attached a summary of the budget to the funding application to be presented and discussed at the 12 July Meeting.

2.10 Mr Rowse submits that he was satisfied with the budget before it was to be presented to the ERWG. Allegations have been made by the Assisting Officer that Invest HK did not raise questions on the estimated artist fees in AmCham’s budget.  It is correct that Invest HK did not raise questions on the artists fees with AmCham when examining the budget.  However, Mr Rowse submits that it was clear to everybody that the list of artists included in the budget was indicative only.  No approach had been made by AmCham at the time to those artists let alone securing their fees.  Mr David Chiu said that AmCham explained to him that the budget was drawn up based on their previous experience in organising entertainment events.  There were no reasonable grounds to challenge the expertise of AmCham in arriving at those estimated figures in relation to, among other things, the artist fees.

2.11 Some concerns were expressed over the omission of the cost of the Tamar site from the budget of the event.  Ms Tsang explained to the Inquiry Committee that the reason why Invest HK officers did not raise this issue with the ERWG was because they did not consider there was a ‘cost’ to the Government attached to the use of the Tamar site because it was a government property.  There was no need to advise the ERWG and the rent paid on the Tamar site should not be considered as a hidden ‘cost’ to the Government.  In any event, the $2 million rent actually charged was absorbed by AmCham within the overall budget and did not entail extra expenditure for the Government. 

2.12 I would submit that the common sense approach adopted by Invest HK was entirely appropriate in the circumstances.  I would have thought that civil servants should be encouraged to take a common sense and pragmatic approach to problems.

Summary
· All of the evidence demonstrates that there was a detailed review of the budget. 

· All of the evidence demonstrates that the ERWG had been fully and adequately advised in relation to it.  

· The only witness who has allegedly been taking a contrary view accepted that he has no personal knowledge of what steps Invest HK had actually taken to review the budget.  

· Central to this Charge is that Invest HK did not critically review the budget and did not fully and adequately advised the ERWG on it.  All the evidence shows they did. 

Charge B

2.13 The first point to make is that it is not correct to say that Mr Rowse was the Controlling Officer of the relaunch fund of $100 million allocated to the event.  As explained earlier, he was the Controlling Officer of the subject department being assigned to implement the Harbour Fest sponsorship arrangement.   
2.14 In considering this Charge, Mr Rowse submits that the following matters arising from the evidence before the Inquiry Committee are of importance:

2.14.1 It is quite normal for sponsors to make staged payments to organisers in advance of the event itself.  

2.14.2 The three memoranda of understanding (“MOUs”) were required because the organisation of the event could not take place without staged payments being made to AmCham which was not itself separately funded.  As AmCham only had 3 months to organise the Harbour Fest, there was pressing need to effect the transfer of funds to AmCham as soon as possible.  It was because of these exceptional circumstances that monies were advanced under the MOUs prior to the signing of a full agreement.   The MOUs were designed to protect the Government’s interests in relation to the advance of these payments which if not made would have led to the collapse of the event.  

2.14.3 Mr Rowse had no personal involvement in the execution of the first two MOUs, which were negotiated and signed while he was on holiday and on duty visit respectively.  On each occasion there was an Acting Director General of Investment Promotion taking up his duties under the normal acting arrangement in the Government system.  

2.14.4 At the time of the signing of the first MOU, the negotiation of the sponsorship agreement was already underway.  Ms Tsang had expected that the detailed provisions concerning the obligations of the parties would be set out in the sponsorship agreement to be drafted in consultation with the Department of Justice.

2.14.5 After Mr Rowse returned from his holiday and duty visit, he was briefed by Ms Ophelia Tsang  in relation to the signing of the MOUs and the advance payments made to AmCham on each occassion.  Mr Rowse had reminded Ms Tsang and Mr David Chiu that they should finalise the sponsorship agreement with AmCham as soon as possible.  

2.15 Mr Rowse notes the Inquiry Committee’s concern that the Department of Justice had not been consulted on the drafting of the MOUs.  With the benefit of hindsight, the Department of Justice’s involvement would have been of assistance to the drafting of the MOUs.  However, there is no general requirement that Government departments must consult the Department of Justice before entering into contracts with third parties.  Mr Lawrence Wong has also confirmed that Financial Circular 15 of 1995 which is included in the Prosecution Documents is irrelevant to the Harbour Fest situation.  Ms Ophelia Tsang and Mr Rowse have both given evidence before the Inquiry Committee that due to exceptionally tight timeframe the ERWG had set for the implementation of the Harbour Fest, there was not sufficient time to get the Department of Justice involved in the drafting of the MOUs.  The sponsorship fee, which had already been approved by the ERWG, had to be paid to AmCham promptly in advance otherwise AmCham would not have the money to get on with the organisation of the event.  As Controlling Officer, Mr Rowse was satisfied that the use of the MOUs was appropriate to protect the Government’s interests in the circumstances.   

2.16 In addressing the Inquiry Committee’s concern as to whether the Financial Secretary, the ERWG and ERSG were informed of the advance payments made to AmCham, it is submitted that:

2.16.1 The first MOU was signed on 31 July 2003.  The minutes of the ERWG meeting on 2 August 2003 recorded that the following report was made by Ms Ophelia Tsang on behalf of Invest HK:

“ADG3, Invest HK reported that the American Chamber of Commerce was in the course of signing up performing talents.  Invest HK had paid cash advance to AmCham for this purpose.”

2.16.2 In response to the Inquiry Committee’s question, Mr Rowse said that he orally informed the administrative assistant of Mr Henry Tang that Invest HK had passed on part of the sponsorship fee to AmCham.

2.17 It is important to note that in commercial agreements, there is no hard and fast rule as to what terms must be incorporated in the agreement.  Much will depend on the prevailing circumstances.  Mr Rowse submits that the absence of the provisions as stated in paragraphs (1)(i) to (iv) of Charge B did not render the mechanism to monitor the organisation of the event ineffective for the following reasons:  

Consultation and approval on major changes to the programme and the budget

2.18 The fact of the matter was that AmCham did agree to and did in fact consult the Government in relation to major changes in the programme and the budget of the event.  The key priority at the time was to ensure that there was this consultation – it was not a key priority to spend time and effort documenting this because time spent on documentation of this nature would have prejudiced the overall staging of the event.  

Periodic reports on the progress and development of the Harbour Fest

2.19 AmCham did in fact provide periodic reports on development and progress of the event. None of the witnesses have suggested otherwise.  In circumstances where AmCham was dependant on Invest HK’s assistance in resolving major problems relating to the Harbour Fest, no such provisions were necessary.  

Access to all accounts, contracts and records to the Harbour Fest

2.20 It was neither necessary nor appropriate for the MOUs to contain a provision entitling the Government to have complete access to all accounts, contracts and records of the event.  This would have been inconsistent with the sponsorship arrangement.  Had the Government wanted to have this type of access then it should have decided to organise or to co-organise the event rather than to act as a sponsor.  

2.21 Mr Lawrence Wong said that he could recall making an oral suggestion to Invest HK for the sponsorship agreement to have an access to documents clause.   However, when Invest HK explained that the ERWG’s decision was to sponsor and not to organise the event, Mr Wong gave no further advice.  Clearly, this shows that there was no necessity to include an access clause in the sponsorship agreement. As Mr Wong himself confirmed before the Inquiry Committee, if he had any real concerns, he would have given further advice to Invest HK on this issue. 

Refund clause

2.22 Mr Rowse submits that the exceptional nature of the Harbour Fest made it inappropriate for the insertion of a refund clause in the MOUs.  It is accepted that an agreement for a commercial sponsorship arrangement will normally include a refund clause.  The reason is that the organiser, who intends and expects to makes a profit from the event, bears the commercial risk of the cancellation of the event.  However, the Harbour Fest was not a commercial sponsorship arrangement.  It was clear from the outset that AmCham was volunteering help to Hong Kong and would make no profit from organising the Harbour Fest.  In those circumstances it would not have been fair to impose on AmCham the commercial requirement to make a refund.  In any event all of this was academic because it was clear that the event would go ahead and that there would be no need for refunds.  

2.23 In response to paragraphs (2)(i) and (ii) of Charge B, Mr Rowse submits that:

Legal capacity of AmCham to enter into MOUs

2.24 As a matter of law and fact, AmCham did have the legal capacity to enter into the MOUs.  No evidence has been adduced to suggest otherwise.  AmCham is a party that is familiar to the Government and Invest HK.  The ERWG considered AmCham was a reliable partner.  Nobody at any meeting queried the legal capacity of AmCham to contract with the Government in relation to the Harbour Fest.    

Financial position of AmCham to meet its obligations under the MOUs

2.25 This charge alleges that Invest HK failed to ascertain whether AmCham was in a financial position to meet its obligations under the MOUs.  But the fact is AmCham was not under any financial obligations in relation to those agreements.  It is difficult to see what is the basis of this charge.

Urgent need for each of the advance payments to be made

2.26 It is clear from Ms Ophelia Tsang’s evidence that in the context of the MOUs, she had ascertained that there was an urgent need for advance payments to be made.  None of the other witnesses has said anything which contradicts this.  Likewise, Mr Rowse has also given evidence that at the time when AmCham approached him for the third advance payment, he was satisfied that AmCham had an urgent and genuine need for money - Mr Rowse could actually see that the previous advance payments had been put into good use by AmCham as the stage had been set up and contracts had been entered into with many of the performing artists.  

2.27 When the 1st MOU was signed, Mr Rowse was in Macau.  Although an email was sent to his home email address on 30 July 2003, Mr Rowse was not in Hong Kong on that day.  The immigration record clearly shows that he was in Macau and only returned to Hong Kong on 3 August 2003.  Mr Rowse has told the Inquiry Committee that he only saw the 1st MOU after it had been executed and that the first advance payment had been made to AmCham.  I submit that Mr Rowse is a witness of good character and worthy of trust.  His evidence should be accepted as evidence of truth.  

2.28 An attempt is being made to punish him for misconduct in relation to two MOUs in respect of which he had no involvement.  I would submit that from the civil service’s perspective it would set a highly dangerous precedent.   

2.29 It is clear in Mr Rowse’s submission that an effective mechanism was in place to monitor the organisation of the event and that the Government’s interests were adequately protected.     As Ms Ophelia Tsang has said at the Inquiry hearing, the MOUs were not designed to provide mechanisms and control to be exercised by Invest HK in monitoring AmCham’s organization of the event.  The appropriate mechanisms and controls were already in place even before the execution of the first MOU. 

2.30 I note that Mr Henry Tang stated in his response to SCS Letter that he considered the absence of the provisions stated in paragraphs (1)(i) to (iv) of Charge B and the lack of due diligence check on AmCham had, “to a certain extent”, undermined the efforts of Invest HK to effectively monitor the organization of the Harbour Fest.  However nowhere in his evidence to the Inquiry Committee did he assert or particularize how he considered Invest HK’s efforts to monitor the event had been undermined by the lack of these provisions in the MOUs.  We would suggest that in these circumstances, no weight should be given to Mr Tang’s earlier observations in connection with the matter and we note also that there is otherwise no evidence for the Inquiry Committee that Invest HK’s ability to monitor the event had been undermined.  

Summary
· The essence of Charge B is the allegation that the absence of certain provisions and checks on AmCham had rendered the monitoring mechanisms imposed by Invest HK ineffective.  

· The fact is that there were effective mechanisms in place.  They were already in place even before the execution of the first MOU.  

Charge C

2.31 Before I deal with the specifics of this Charge, two important points need to be made.  The first is that in drawing up the sponsorship agreement Invest HK relied heavily as it was perfectly entitled, and indeed expected, to do on the advice of Department of Justice.  The second is that Mr Wong in his evidence before the Inquiry Committee confirmed that in his view the Government’s interests were adequately protected by the agreement that was drawn up.  He said in terms that if he had had serious reservations about any aspect of the agreement from a legal perspective he would have set those reservations out in writing, but he did not do so as he had no such reservations.  Accordingly, neither I nor Mr Rowse understand the basis for this complaint.  

2.32 It is common ground that the sponsorship agreement was signed at a later stage than ideal.  However, it is not open to the Assisting Officer to criticise Mr Rowse of the late production of the sponsorship agreement as Mr Rowse is not charged with it.  Although Charge C makes a number of detailed allegations regarding the sponsorship agreement, nowhere in this Charge is it suggested that he should be found guilty of misconduct in relation to the timing of the production of the sponsorship agreement.   The question to be considered by the Inquiry Committee is whether the Government’s interests were adequately protected under the sponsorship agreement itself.

2.33 The particulars of a sponsorship arrangement are matters for negotiation between the parties.  These in turn are matters which hinge on the degree of participation or involvement preferred by the Government (in this case, as a sponsor) which is essentially a policy matter.  Mr Lawrence Wong agrees with this submission
. It is important to note that there is no evidence to suggest that the specific provisions as stated in paragraphs C(i) to (iii) of Charge C must be included in the sponsorship agreement in order to ensure that the Government’s interests would be adequately protected.   It follows that in assessing what terms should be included in a sponsorship agreement and what due diligence exercise, if any, should be performed on the contracting party, much will depend on the context of the actual sponsorship arrangement and the Government’s desirable level of involvement in the project.  As stated earlier in these submissions, in the case of the Harbour Fest, the Government had deliberately chosen a role which placed AmCham as the organiser of the project.

Provision for refund of the payments already advanced if the event was not held

2.34 There is evidence from Ms Ophelia Tsang and Mr David Chiu that the initial draft agreement prepared by Invest HK did include a termination clause providing for refund of payments made to AmCham if the event was not held.  This clause was removed from the final version of the sponsorship agreement as a result of a consensus reached at a meeting between AmCham, AmCham’s legal representatives, Mr Rowse, Mr Chiu and Mr Lawrence Wong on 2 October 2003
.

2.35 The Inquiry Committee has heard from Mr Chiu and Mr Rowse that a refund clause was simply redundant.  At the time of the meeting on 2 October 2003, the organisation of the Harbour Fest had already reached a very advanced stage.  Tickets were already on sale, the stage was being erected and the artists were coming to Hong Kong.  There was absolutely no prospect that the Harbour Fest would not be held.  

2.36 Accordingly, the absence of a refund clause in the sponsorship agreement did not affect the effectiveness of the sponsorship agreement in protecting the interests of the Government.

Provision requiring AmCham to make periodic reports to the Government on the development and progress of the Event

2.37 As stated earlier in these submissions, it is clear from the evidence of Ms Ophelia Tsang, Mr David Chiu and Mr Rowse that AmCham did make reports to Invest HK on the organisation of the Harbour Fest on a daily basis.

2.38 Mr Lawrence Wong also confirmed that he was satisfied that a proper legal mechanism was in place in the terms of the sponsorship agreement to allow the Government to monitor the planning and implementation of the Harbour Fest.  

Provision requiring AmCham to consult the Government on the ticket pricing strategy

2.39 No one, least of all the Department of Justice, considered it was necessary for the sponsorship agreement to contain a provision requiring AmCham to consult the Government on ticket pricing strategy.  Specifically Mr Henry Tang said that he did not see the inclusion of a provision requiring AmCham to consult the Government on ticking decisions, including ticket pricing and the distribution of free tickets as critical
.  

2.40 Accordingly, it is clear from the evidence that a provision requiring AmCham to consult the Government on the ticket pricing strategy was not necessary in order to protect the interests of the Government under the sponsorship agreement.  In any event, Ms Ophelia Tsang, Mr David Chiu and Mr Rowse confirmed that AmCham did in fact consult the Government on ticket pricing strategy, a matter which will be discussed later in these submissions.

Ascertaining whether AmCham had the legal capacity to enter into the Agreement and to perform its obligations under the Agreement through a Special Purpose Vehicle

2.41 As stated earlier in these submissions, it is common ground that AmCham did have the legal capacity to enter into contracts with the Government in relation to the Harbour Fest.  

2.42 It was clear right from the beginning of the organisation of the Harbour Fest that AmCham would perform its obligations through a special purpose vehicle.  There is nothing sinister in this.  On the contrary, the Financial Secretary said in his evidence that use of a special purpose vehicle was standard practice in the private sector.  There are provisions in the sponsorship agreement which made reference to the use of a special purpose vehicle by AmCham and, in accordance with the advice given by Mr Wong, the agreement contained a clause to the effect that notwithstanding the use of the special purpose vehicle, AmCham should not be relieved from any of its obligations under the contract
.  Mr Wong did not give any further advice to Invest HK on the issue of the use of a special purpose vehicle by AmCham and certainly did not advise against it. 

Ascertaining whether Mr Jim Thompson was duly authorized to sign the Agreement on AmCham’s behalf

2.43 Mr Jim Thompson, in his capacity as the Chairman of AmCham, had been chosen by the Government to be a member of the ERSG.  It goes without saying that it was clear to everybody that Mr Thompson was in fact the Chairman of AmCham at the time of the Harbour Fest.  It is clear as a matter of law that Mr Thompson did have the capacity to sign the agreement on AmCham’s behalf and no evidence has been adduced to suggest otherwise.  

Summary

· Charge C rests on the lack of certain provisions in the agreement and the absence of certain checks on AmCham.  

· The fact is that the Government’s interests were adequately protected under the sponsorship agreement.

· The Department of Justice also confirmed that it was involved throughout the drafting process and that the sponsorship agreement was acceptable from a legal perspective.   

Charge D

2.44 Charge D is not about whether AmCham  had problems in selling the tickets.  It is about whether the ticket pricing strategy was critically reviewed.  

2.45 It was AmCham’s role as an organiser to review the ticket pricing strategy.  Invest HK’s role was to review AmCham’s ticket pricing strategy.  The evidence shows that AmCham did review the ticket pricing strategy and Invest HK did monitor this process.

2.46 The following evidence before the Inquiry Committee clearly shows that there was a critical review of the ticket pricing strategy:

2.46.1 At the meeting of the ERWG on 12 July 2003, members suggested that the ticket prices of the event should be raised to a market level with a view to making the event as commercially viable as possible.  Invest HK duly conveyed the ERWG’s suggestion to AmCham.

2.46.2 Invest HK assisted AmCham in revising the ticket prices pursuant to ERWG’s instructions by providing them with information on ticket prices which it had sought and received from the LCSD.

2.46.3 Mr Chiu and Mr Rowse confirmed that Invest HK discussed the possibility of concessionary tickets for senior citizens and students with AmCham.  It is quite wrong to suggest that Mr Rowse took no follow up action with AmCham in relation ERWG’s suggestion.  After due consideration, it was agreed by Invest HK and AmCham that it would not be feasible to achieve this by having differential pricing in the same areas of the venue, as this would lead to enormous administrative difficulties on the ground as explained by Mr Rowse in his evidence.  Instead, AmCham would achieve the intended objective of encouraging different members of the public to go to the Harbour Fest by providing a wide range of ticket prices by reserving some less advantageous areas of the venue and pricing them accordingly to make sure that there were some cheaper tickets available for each concert.  

2.46.4 The initial budget of AmCham dated 6 July 2003 estimated that the revenue from ticket sales was only $11.2 million.   As a result of the suggestion made by the ERWG to pitch the ticket prices at market level, AmCham reviewed the ticket pricing strategy of the event.  Accordingly, the revenue from ticket sales of the event as shown on the final budget was over $48 million.  Mr Henry Tang also accepts in his written answers to the Panel
 and his oral evidence before the Inquiry Committee that there was a substantial review of the ticket pricing strategy.  

2.46.5 Invest HK did ensure that the ticket prices proposed by AmCham were in line with the ticket pricing information provided by the LCSD.

2.46.6 On 1 September 2003, AmCham had presented their ticket pricing strategy to the ERSG meeting and nobody at the meeting raised any comments in relation to the ticket prices.  

2.46.7 Once the tickets were put on sale, Mr Rowse demanded and received daily reports from AmCham on ticket sales.

2.46.8 Invest HK did oversee the distribution of free tickets by AmCham.  There is evidence to show that:

· the Government supported the distribution of some free tickets for the shows on the first weekend to Hospital Authority staff and to some underprivileged families.

· the Government participated in the decision to distribute some free tickets to bolster the attendance at the first two evening concerts and was aware that in accordance with standard entertainment industry practice, AmCham had given a small number of free tickets to performing artists;

· AmCham had contacted the Financial Secretary directly in relation to the decision to make one of the concerts free of charge as a result of the last minute cancellation of a performing act due to circumstances entirely beyond the organisers control;

· Mr Rowse was aware that due to the low sales figures in relation to some of the later concerts, AmCham had distributed free tickets to bars, restaurants and other shops in exchange for putting up advertisements in their premises.  

· Clearly, Invest HK had prior knowledge of and had been consulted on the strategy for the distribution of free tickets by AmCham.

2.47 It is also important to note that in Mr Tang’s response to the Director of Audit, he did not make any criticism of Invest HK and Mr Rowse in relation to the ticketing issue
.

Summary 

· Charge D is built on the criticism of no critical review of the ticket pricing strategy and that this prejudiced the Government.  

· There is overwhelming evidence that there was such a review.  

· There is no evidence that the Government suffered any prejudice.    

Charge E

2.48 It is clear from the evidence that there were appropriate procedures and mechanisms to scrutinize and monitor the event.  As the organiser, AmCham had the primary responsibility to produce and provide Invest HK with updated budgets.  Invest HK’s role was to examine the revised budgets they received from AmCham.
2.49 It has been suggested that because Invest HK only received three formal budgets from AmCham in less than 100 days that somehow the two parties failed to meet their responsibility.  On the contrary, I would suggest the production of three formal budget in that period was in fact an impressive achievement in the context of the timeframe in which everyone was operating.  

2.50 Concern has also been raised in connection with the non-production of an updated budget to the ERWG at its meeting on 20 August 2003.  It is clear from the evidence that Mr Chiu had been pressing AmCham for this.  In the event this was produced shortly thereafter in early September, it is difficult to see why this slight slip should form the foundation of a complaint against Mr Rowse. 

2.51 Further, an essential component of this Charge is that the Government’s interests in the proper monitoring of the event were prejudiced.  As stated above, the burden of proof is clearly on the prosecution to make good this allegation.  In his closing submission, the Assisting Officer asserts that Mr Henry Tang said that the failure by Mr Rowse to discharge his duties had contributed to the lack of public trust and the negative media reports thereby compromising the Harbour Fest’s objectives.  I could not find any reference to such a statement in any of the written evidence of Mr Tang before the Inquiry Committee nor do I recall Mr Tang making such a statement at the Inquiry hearing.  On the contrary, in relation to Charge E, I specifically asked Mr Tang the following:

“Ms Loh:
Do you consider Mr Rowse had established procedures or mechanisms for scruting and approval of the evolving budget?

Mr Tang:
I assume he does.

Ms Loh:
So am I right in saying that therefore you do not know what procedures or mechanisms were put in place?

Mr Tang:
No.  But I assume he would have adequate procedures put in place.

2.52 Clearly, Mr Tang was unable to render any opinion on whether the Government’s interests were prejudiced given he has no knowledge of the mechanisms put in place by Invest HK for the scrutiny and approval of the evolving budget.

Summary
· Charge E rests on the proposition that Mr Rowse failed to put in place procedures and mechanisms to scrutinize and approve the evolving budget thereby prejudicing the Government.  

· The fact is that proper procedures and mechanisms were in place. 

· There is no evidence of any prejudice suffered by the Government.

7. conclusion

2.1 In all the circumstances, I would urge you to dismiss all of the Charges against Mr Rowse.  

2.2 None of the evidence which has been adduced before the Inquiry Committee supports a finding of misconduct.  The Financial Secretary emphatically said that he was not aware of any improper conduct on Mr Rowse’s part.

2.3 It is disturbing in my view that these proceedings have been brought at all.  Mr Rowse and I can only assume (as has the Financial Secretary) that these proceedings only came about because of what Mr Tang describes as a ‘witch hunt’.  

2.4 In all the circumstances it is not only important that the Charges be dismissed but I would invite the Inquiry Committee to go further and to recognise that Mr Rowse and Invest HK did all that could reasonably be expected of them in the context of the onerous assignment that had been placed on the department.  As the Financial Secretary has recognized, Invest HK’s objective was to deliver a substantial entertainment event in a very short time frame and it clearly achieved that objective
.  

2.5 I would end by saying that this case carries with it important implications for the civil service.  

2.6 Despite the heavy range of other duties he had, Mr Rowse was hand picked by the then Financial Secretary to help with the relaunch programme which was regarded as critical to the recovery of Hong Kong’s economy.  He delivered everything that was asked of him and Invest HK.

2.7 It is to be hoped that Hong Kong will not again face the sort of extraordinary problems which arose during the SARS crisis.  If however critical events do arise in the future which require urgent help from the Government. Finding Mr Rowse guilty of misconduct will to send a message to civil servants that they should not take on the type of assignment given to Mr Rowse because even if they succeed in their overall objective, as Mr Rowse has, they may still be open to disciplinary proceedings if there is later public criticism of the manner in which the result was achieved.  This would be a sad conclusion for the civil service to reach.
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